Hamline University

DigitalCommons@Hamline

School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects

School of Education and Leadership

Summer 2021

Poverty In Education: The Impact On Academic Vocabulary And Need For Early Interventions

Carly Spillner

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp

Part of the Education Commons

Recommended Citation

Spillner, Carly, "Poverty In Education: The Impact On Academic Vocabulary And Need For Early Interventions" (2021). *School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects*. 709. https://digitalcommons.hamline.edu/hse_cp/709

This Capstone Project is brought to you for free and open access by the School of Education and Leadership at DigitalCommons@Hamline. It has been accepted for inclusion in School of Education and Leadership Student Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@Hamline. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@hamline.edu.

POVERTY IN EDUCATION: THE IMPACT ON ACADEMIC VOCABULARY AND NEED FOR EARLY INTERVENTIONS

by

Carly Spillner

A capstone submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Literacy Education

Hamline University

Saint Paul, Minnesota

August 2021

Primary Advisor: Julie Scullen, Ed.S. Content Reviewer: Lori Mariani Peer Reviewer: Marnie Sanders

To my mom

For your unwavering support through it all. I'll never be able to thank you enough for always believing in me.

To Sam

For your endless love and your ability to make me laugh when I need it most.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter One: Introduction	7
Early Literacy Experiences	7
My Beginnings as an Educator	8
Summary	11
Chapter Two: Literature Review	12
Introduction	12
Poverty and Education	13
Poverty and Attendance	13
Achievement Gap	14
High-Poverty Schools	16
Poverty and Vocabulary Development	18
Vocabulary and Parent Involvement	19
Informal Language Versus Academic Vocabulary	
Vocabulary Interventions	22
Explicit Vocabulary Instruction	22
Shared Book Readings	23
Repeated Readings	24
Assisted Repeated Readings	25
Summary	26
Chapter Three: Methods	27
Introduction	27
Parameters for Data Collection	27

Criteria for Inclusion	28
Socioeconomic Status	28
School Setting	29
Types of Interventions	29
Peer-Reviewed Status	29
Dates	29
Data Analysis	30
Appraisal of Studies	30
Summary	31
Chapter Four: Extended Literature Review	32
Introduction	32
Articles on Vocabulary Interventions for Low-Socioeconomic Students	34
Types of Interventions Implemented	35
Methodologies Used in the Research on Academic Vocabulary Interventions	335
Study Demographics	36
Important Findings on Vocabulary Interventions for Low-Income Students	37
Explicit Instruction	38
Explicit Phonics Instruction	39
Explicit Vocabulary Instruction	40
Embedded Instruction	42
Discussions	44
Guided and Shared Book Reading	46
Shared Book Reading	46

Guided Reading	47
Summary of Findings	48
Chapter Five: Conclusion	50
Major Findings	50
Limitations	
Implications for Educators	53
Further Research	55
Communication and Use of Results	56
Conclusion	56
References	
Extended Literature Review References	63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Study Demographics

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Some of my fondest childhood and adolescent memories are centered around literacy. My rich reading and writing experiences gave me the tools to build the strong literacy skills that helped me excel throughout my education. However, not everyone is this fortunate. When I began my professional career, I quickly understood the tremendous negative impact that lack of literacy skills can have on a student's education. My experiences in the classroom have led me to the following research question, which I will attempt to answer through an extended literature review: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty?

Early Literacy Experiences

As far back as I can remember, reading has been one of my favorite pastimes. My mom was a teacher, and many of our Friday nights consisted of trips to Barnes and Noble to pick out books for her students. She and I would sit on the floor of the children's section for hours and pour over contenders for her classroom library. I would make my picks and pass them on for her to review, waiting with bated breath as she mulled over my choices, hoping that they might make the cut. They usually did, and many days after school I would wander to the back of her classroom and pick one of them out, flop on a bean bag chair, and get lost in a story while she graded papers and made lesson plans. At home, we read everything together, from Little Golden Books to my very favorite series as a child, Junie B. Jones. One summer day when I was ten, I spent the majority of the daylight hours at our bright blue Mac typing out my very first book. I cannot remember what the novel was about, only that the main character's name was Ellie. I thought that when my book was published, I would be rich and famous. While that dream never came to fruition, my passion for writing grew even stronger in high school and served as an outlet for many of the words I could not manage to speak. While reading and writing came pretty easily to me, I realized in college that this is not the case for all students. During my sophomore year I changed my major to special education with a focus in learning disabilities, and later graduated from Winona State University with a bachelor's degree in teaching, determined to be an advocate for students who struggled academically.

My Beginnings as an Educator

I began my career in education as a special education teacher at a high school in Minnesota's south metro. The call I got from the district's Supervisor of Special Education offering me the job is one that I will never forget. Almost immediately, I took to Facebook to post a status that I, fresh off of graduation from Winona State University, had landed a position as an actual teacher. I was elated, penning something to the effect of being overjoyed to begin my career and proclaiming my love for teaching and learning. I had an overwhelming sense of confidence that on the first day of school, my students would be enamored by me and would be singing my praises to all of their friends. They would love me, I would love them, and I would change their lives with the ridiculously awesome research-based instructional techniques that I had learned in college.

Five years later, I continue to hold the same teaching position at the same high school. Many of my students have loved me, I have loved them, and I would like to think that I have changed some of their lives through my teaching. What I did not predict five years ago, however, was the prevalence of poverty in my district, and the academic underachievement that resulted from it. I did not know the weight that my students would carry as a result of not having anything to eat on the weekends or needing to sleep on air mattresses because their families could not afford beds. I had no idea that students would fall asleep in my class because they had been up late working the previous night in an effort to help support their family. Five years ago, I simply could not have fathomed that many of my students would struggle so immensely to make educational gains because of the basic resources that they and their families lacked. What has become clear in my short time as an educator is that it can be incredibly difficult for some students to make academic progress due to factors outside of school. While I would quickly become accustomed to all of these unfortunate realities, one seemingly unanswerable question remains: How do I fix this?

I have attended many professional development sessions put on by my school and district on the impacts of poverty and how to best meet the needs of these students. Usually, a member of administration will review data about students in poverty in our district, and small groups of teachers and other school employees will spend the majority of the day brainstorming strategies for working with these students. While these sessions often offer the opportunity to learn from colleagues about how they are successfully working with low-income students, I often feel like we are playing catch up. We have determined that these students are academically behind their peers due to circumstances outside of their control, and now we must figure out what to do to get them up to speed, all while hoping that they do not fall behind again. Since these same professional developments are no doubt happening at the elementary and middle school levels as well, I often wonder, are we really solving the problem at hand?

In my time as a special education teacher, I have held close to one hundred Individualized Education Program (IEP) plan meetings with my special education students and their parents or guardians. More often than not, a topic of discussion in one of these meetings is the child's need to improve their reading comprehension skills. Consequently, when a student struggles with reading comprehension, academic vocabulary is also difficult. Teacher feedback usually indicates that these students struggle with determining what a question or academic prompt is asking them to do, and that comprehending what they have read is very difficult. My high school students who struggle with reading comprehension and vocabulary are often reading at elementary grade levels. When I write IEP goals for these students related to reading comprehension, I often think about the grade-level assignments they are being asked to complete, their current reading levels, and the skills they will need in order to discern the meaning of vocabulary words and comprehend what they have read. There is, without question, a sizable gap between their reading abilities and the texts they are being asked to comprehend. Watching so many of my students struggle so immensely with reading and vocabulary has pushed me to pursue a career in which I could devote my days working with children to strengthen their literacy skills.

In January of 2019, I began my coursework at Hamline University in order to obtain my Master's degree in Literacy Education. I aspire to become a Reading Specialist

so that I can provide effective interventions to students that will improve their literacy skills. Throughout my coursework and my teaching experiences, it has become very evident to me that there are many outside factors in a student's life that impact their ability to be successful in school. While it can be argued that children do not end up using some of the things they learn in school, the ability to read and comprehend information is a skill that students will need to develop and use for the rest of their lives. As an educator, I believe that I have both an ethical and professional responsibility to ensure that students are mastering this skill at an early age so that they are able to reach their full potential. The aim of my research is to determine effective academic vocabulary interventions to use with low-income students at an early age, before they are forced to carry the burden of not possessing the literacy skills they need to be an independent, successful, and contributing member to society.

Summary

This introductory chapter provides insight into my professional experience thus far, which has led me to my current research. The timely issue of poverty and education, with attention to literacy skills, has been briefly explored. The ineffectiveness of professional development models concerning poverty have been detailed, as well as the importance of early academic vocabulary interventions. In Chapter Two, the literature on poverty and academic vocabulary is reviewed. In Chapter Three, the methodology for the systematic literature review is provided. The extended literature review in Chapter Four includes an in-depth review of research articles related to vocabulary interventions for low-income students. The final chapter, Chapter Five, discusses how the extended literature review addressed the research questions.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

I am researching the impact of poverty on academic vocabulary development because I want to determine how poverty affects the acquisition of vocabulary, in order to help readers understand the importance of early vocabulary interventions. Review of literature confirms that disparities in vocabulary skills is not a new issue, and that factors outside of school are often a strong predictor of a child's success or failure in progressing through school with grade-level or above grade-level vocabulary skills (Carlisle, Kelcey, & Berebitsky, 2013; Corcoran Nielsen & Dinner Friesen, 2012; Goldstein et al., 2017; Hemphill & Tivnan, 2008; Lervag et al., 2018; Marulis & Neuman, 2013). Through my research, I have identified a number of important themes in the correlation between low socioeconomic status and vocabulary skills. The impacts of poverty on learning will be discussed in the section "Poverty and Education". In the section "Poverty and Vocabulary Development", student experiences with vocabulary will be examined, with attention to the implications resulting from lack of vocabulary exposure. The section "Vocabulary Interventions" will detail the importance of early interventions for students living in poverty as well as implementation and results of effective interventions. Research on the aforementioned topics directly supports my research question: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty?

Poverty and Education

My research aims to determine the relationship between poverty and vocabulary skills in order to determine effective interventions to use with students whose literacy skills have been impacted by poverty. This section will provide information on poverty as well as an overview of the issues related to poverty and education. Poverty is broadly defined as lack of resources required to maintain a minimal standard of living (Van der Berg, 2008). Those living in poverty often struggle to obtain shelter, employment, and enough food to adequately sustain all family members (Silva-Laya et al., 2020). While there are people living in poverty that are unemployed, it is important to note that many of those impacted by poverty are underemployed. They may be working jobs that are not providing high wages, or they may not be able to obtain full-time employment (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). When basic needs are not met due and gainful employment is not easily attainable, there are both social and educational implications for people of low socioeconomic status. Research shows that children living in poverty are more likely to experience educational delays and lower academic achievement than their peers (Johnson et al., 2016). This may be because children in poverty do not have a space at home that is conducive to studying and learning, and because these children are less likely to receive assistance with their academic work than their middle and upper-class peers (Silva-Laya et al., 2020). Low socioeconomic status can also contribute to poor school attendance.

Poverty and Attendance

Inconsistent school attendance and failure to value or understand formal education can also inhibit poor students from experiencing academic success (Van der Berg, 2008). Research indicates that children living in poverty are absent from school twice as often as their peers who are of middle or upper-class, and that poor children in elementary school demonstrate worse attendance than those in secondary schools. Elementary-age students living in poverty often display higher rates of absenteeism than secondary students as they require more support from parents and guardians in getting to school (Zhang, 2003). Poor attendance can also be the result of parents or guardians not being able to obtain employment, forcing the family to move frequently, resulting in a child not being able to attend school consistently (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). Students in poverty may be frequently absent from school due to responsibilities with caring for their siblings or helping their parents out at work (Lervåg et al., 2018). Poor or unsafe housing conditions can also cause children to be sick more often, resulting in excessive absences (Naven et al., 2019). When students who live in poverty are not able to make sufficient educational gains, they fall behind academically.

Achievement Gap

There are substantial gaps in educational achievement between poor and socioeconomically advantaged students in the United States, and research indicates that students who live in poverty consistently perform worse academically than their peers (Lacour & Tissington, 2011). Though research does show that children living in poverty are able to achieve what would equal one or two years of academic growth during a school year, their middle- and upper-class peers are also able to make these gains (Tienken, 2012). This is problematic for poor students, as they are often at a lower starting point than their peers, meaning that the gap in achievement is still present. What is even more concerning is that during the summer, middle- and upper-class students usually maintain their academic progress while poor students often lose two or three

months of learning and skills (Tienken, 2012). If sufficient resources are not dedicated to these students, the gap in educational performance between poor students and their middle and upper-class peers will continue to grow. While some believe that schools have the power to reduce the achievement gap by implementing various strategies, others are firm in their opinion that poverty is a powerful force that cannot be taken on by schools alone (Levin, 2007). This puts teachers and school officials in difficult positions, as they are often left struggling to comprehend their responsibility in mitigating the effects of poverty on a child's education.

In discussing instructional techniques for working with poor students, researchers underscore the importance of a teacher's need to reject any implicit biases that may be present regarding students and families living in poverty (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). Failure to do so can reinforce the common belief that in order to get out of poverty, and for students to increase educational outcomes, poor families and children simply need to work harder. Teachers and school administration should instead concentrate on the complex reasons for persistent poverty, and how the cycle of poverty is so challenging for some families to escape from. In working to close the achievement gap between poor students and their middle- and upper-class peers, teachers must work actively to value and motivate these students (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). School programs that support student-teacher relationships and a child's social-emotional development are important for increasing motivation in students who experience poverty (Silva-Laya et al., 2020). Researchers indicate that it is also important for teachers to remember that values and beliefs about education differ among various racial and socioeconomic populations (Lacour & Tissington, 2015). Teachers should engage in instruction that allows students

to use their experiences and prior knowledge in the classroom. Schools can also work to lessen the adverse effects of poverty on education by creating a partnership with families, especially for students who are considered at-risk due to lack of educational achievement (Lacour & Tissington, 2011). Since families living in poverty lack many of the resources socioeconomically-advantaged families have access to, schools should be aware of community resources and connect families with them whenever possible (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). While there are many things that educational professionals can do to address the impacts of poverty on a child's education, challenges may arise when schools are largely comprised of students living in poverty.

High-Poverty Schools

Students living in poverty often attend schools labeled as high-poverty schools, meaning that over half of the student body is impacted by poverty (Samuels, 2019). High-poverty schools are the result of large groups of poor people living in a concentrated area. This often occurs due to the location of affordable or government-assisted housing (Machtinger, 2007). Additionally, poverty does not impact all racial groups equally, which has resulted in the unintentional resegregation of schools. Research indicates that approximately 38% of Black children and 34% of Latino children live in poverty (Ullucci & Howard, 2015). Children attending high-poverty schools are more likely to have negative educational experiences, as they are mainly surrounded by other poor students in school (Van der Berg, 2008).

Children living in poverty are met with a number of disadvantages in school. Many students living in poverty are unable to participate in extra-curricular activities because they can not afford the participation fee or the clothing and equipment required (Naven et al., 2019). Financial instability can also result in families not being able to afford school uniforms, impacting a child's feelings of belonging (Naven et al., 2019). Low-income parents experience a high amount of stress, resulting in harsher disciplinary practices that can increase behavioral and cognitive issues in their children (Naven et al., 2019). There are also negative implications for teachers and other educational professionals who work in schools with predominantly poor students.

High-poverty schools tend to have fewer resources than schools that serve middle and upper-class students (Samuels, 2019). A review of national funding for K-12 schools shows that when cuts are made in educational funding, the budgets of high-poverty schools are more severely impacted than schools whose population is primarily socioeconomically advantaged students. Since students living in poverty are often already falling behind academically, these schools also have the responsibility of providing remedial programming, but with limited funding (Knight, 2017). Funding is not the only variable impacting the success of high-poverty schools. When compared to schools with mainly middle and upper-class students, schools that serve predominantly poor students often have fewer highly qualified teachers. There also exists a higher rate of teacher turnover in high-poverty schools. In addition to lack of qualified instructors, high-poverty schools lack basic resources such as books, technology equipment, student support systems, and functional physical spaces (Machtinger, 2007). While it is evident that there are many factors that impede the success of high poverty- schools, it is also worth mentioning that some viewpoints of these schools are more optimistic. The first is that educational achievement can be improved through equal distribution of resources. The

second is that some high-poverty schools have found ways to be successful, so poverty should not be seen as a barrier to educational attainment (Machtinger, 2007).

The impacts of poverty on education are complex and interwoven. From the start, students living in poverty are often behind academically due to lack of basic resources, and poor attendance by low-income students further exacerbates this issue. Negative school experiences continue for students forced to attend high-poverty schools, which are the result of large groups of poor people living in a concentrated area. Although research on poverty in education has tended to focus on the adverse effects of poverty on education, less attention has been given to minimizing the impacts on students' ability to make educational gains, especially in the area of vocabulary development.

Poverty and Vocabulary Development

Successful reading comprehension, necessary for a majority of learning outcomes, depends on vocabulary skills (Lervåg et al., 2018). A child's knowledge of words in kindergarten is a predictor of later reading comprehension skills, which correlates with a child's ability to graduate from high school (Overturf, 2014). This section will explore how vocabulary is acquired, and the consequences that result from children not having adequate experiences with vocabulary.

Language development occurs well before children can even speak. Research indicates that from the time a child is born, they are aware of the changes in the units of sound in a spoken word, or phonemes (Morse & Cangelosi, 2017). At around ten months of age , babies are able to repeat sounds that they have heard, and by eighteen months, children are able to produce about ten item-specific words. When a child is about two years old, they begin to understand that when speaking, it is necessary for words to go in

a certain order, while also beginning to incorporate more abstract concepts into their speaking. Around two and a half years old, children begin to use spatial and emotional concepts in their language (Morse & Cangelosi, 2017). Research shows that children living in poverty have difficulty with a number of literacy skills, including knowing letter names, being aware of letter-sound correspondences, word recognition, and phonological awareness (Nancollis et al., 2005). As it is evident that the development of language occurs from a very young age, Morse & Cangelosi's (2017) research supports the assertion by Goldstein et al. (2017) and Lervåg et al. (2018) that children begin learning vocabulary through interactions with their parents and caregivers.

Vocabulary and Parent Involvement

As previously posited, a child's vocabulary development is greatly influenced by their interactions with their family (Corcoran Nielson & Dinner Friesen, 2012). Both the quality and quantity of language heard by children living in poverty is less than that heard by children from middle- and upper-class families (Malin et al., 2014). Since children in poverty do not experience adequate language interactions, they enter school knowing an average of 6,000 less words than students from middle-class families (Goldstein et al., 2017). Research also suggests that language interactions between parents and children should be warm and positive in order to foster expressive and receptive vocabulary skills. When these types of interactions are not consistent or present, a child's expressive and receptive vocabulary skills are lower than those of their peers (Perkins et al., 2013).

Low-income parents are also less likely than socioeconomically advantaged parents to read to their children, placing children at a disadvantage as reading is shown to aid in the development of a child's vocabulary skills. When these parents do read to their children, they are less likely than middle- and upper-class parents to have discussions related to the book while or after reading (Malin et al., 2014). Less reading also occurs in low-income homes as parents and guardians lack access to books (Naven et al., 2019). Additionally, many children who live in poverty speak a different language at home than at school. Many research studies have shown that bilingual children have lower vocabulary and reading comprehension skills than their peers who speak only one language. English language skills of bilingual parents may not be proficient, which impacts their ability to read to their child or assist with reading assignments that are in English (Lervåg et al., 2018).

In order for children to develop language-processing skills, which help with vocabulary development, parents and guardians need to engage in child-directed speech. That is, parents need to spend an ample amount of time talking to their children, while simultaneously using complex vocabulary words (Weisleder & Fernald, 2013). Children with less educated mothers tend to score lower on tests that measure word knowledge than children whose mothers possess higher levels of education (Marulis & Neuman, 2013). Parent involvement and parental language skills are a strong predictor of a child's social language skills.

Informal Language versus Academic Vocabulary

Words can be categorized into tiers in terms of their frequency and difficulty in an academic setting. Tier 1 words are more common words that do not require instruction, Tier 2 words are used in both social and academic settings, and Tier 3 words are content specific, are usually not known by students, and require instruction in order for understanding. Academic vocabulary words are those that occur commonly in various content areas, in both writing and spoken language, and is made up of Tier 2 and 3 words. A multitude of educational policies assert that proficiency in academic vocabulary is necessary in order for a student to obtain academic success across various contexts (Goldstein et al., 2017). While students in poverty may struggle with academic vocabularies, they often possess a strong understanding of social vocabulary, or sometimes more commonly known as casual language.

In the academic setting, both casual and formal language are used. Research shows that when people live in poverty for long periods of time, they tend to use formal language less and instead rely heavily on casual language, which can be described as the language used between friends (Payne, 2008). Many students, regardless of socioeconomic status, use social media platforms to communicate with each other. Students are given ample opportunities to use casual language when using social media, as this type of communication is commonplace on these sites. Use of social media by students also makes them privy to words that are often present in conversational vocabulary (Alm, 2015).

It is well-established by research that a child's vocabulary instruction and development begins far before they begin their schooling (Goldstein et al., 2017). The amount of early vocabulary exposure a child receives is dependent on their family's socioeconomic status and level of education (Malin et al., 2014). Children living in poverty often become more comfortable with casual vocabulary, and have difficulty with incorporating academic vocabulary into their speech and writing (Alm, 2015). Based on

these findings, it would be of interest to further pursue effective vocabulary interventions for students who are impacted by poverty.

Vocabulary Interventions

It is apparent to researchers and teachers alike that there are vast differences in word knowledge among students, with socioeconomic status as a contributing factor (Marulis & Neuman, 2013). This section will review effective interventions for these students, including suggested ages and grades for implementation. In order to increase vocabulary skills, poor students need direct instruction in academic vocabulary that is more individualized than the instruction that is given in the classroom (Goldstein et al., 2017). When interventions are targeted for students based on need, children are more likely to make gains in their vocabulary skills, which in turn furthers their success in reading (Marulis & Neuman, 2013). In order to address gaps in vocabulary that result from low socioeconomic status, students need to receive interventions in their early elementary school years (Carlisle et al., 2013).

Explicit Vocabulary Instruction

Explicit vocabulary instruction is an instructional strategy in which a teacher clearly explains the meanings of words to students, gives students multiple examples of the word in different contexts, models how to use the word in a sentence, and then allows the students multiple opportunities to practice using the word (Goldstein et al., 2017). For students who struggle with vocabulary due to poverty, explicit instruction is crucial, as these students often do not have implicit knowledge of academic vocabulary words (Rupley & Nichols, 2006). A meta-analysis by Marulis & Neuman (2013) confirms this, citing research from the National Reading Panel Report (2000), which recommends that

vocabulary interventions should provide direct instruction and repetition, as children with vocabulary difficulties require much more explicit and supportive instruction than the majority of students. Additionally, explicit instruction of academic vocabulary words allows students to make associations between words and their experiences, increasing the chance of vocabulary retention and moving beyond rote memorization of words (Goldstein et al., 2017). Carlisle et al. (2013), argue that while explicit instruction is an effective teaching strategy, it should not be used in isolation when working with students who have deficit vocabulary skills due to poverty.

Shared Book Readings

When children are able to engage in shared book reading with an adult or other proficient reader, they are able to hear vocabulary words and gain phonological awareness as they learn that certain sounds correspond with certain letters (Malin et al., 2014). Engaging in discussions with children while reading is a way to strengthen a child's vocabulary skills, the adult or skilled reader is able to draw on a child's current vocabulary knowledge and ask questions which may further their understanding of a word (Malin et al., 2014). To ensure that book readings are effective in providing vocabulary instruction to students in need of interventions, researchers recommend that teachers do three things. First, the teacher should give students the definition of a word from the text they are reading. Next, the teacher should provide students with examples of how to use the word. Last, the teacher should ask the students to create their own sentences using the word. When this instructional technique is used consistently, students receiving vocabulary interventions have shown to make more progress than students who were merely read aloud to (Carlisle et al., 2013). Shared book readings commonly occur with fiction novels and short stories, but research shows that informational texts should also be used, especially with students in early elementary grades. Shared book readings of informational text with younger children is an effective way to introduce academic vocabulary. Researchers posit that while informational texts might be scarce for elementary school students, news articles are a type of expository text that can be used. In news articles, a story typically develops over time, and shared readings of these articles can be beneficial for students who struggle with vocabulary as articles that are written progressively on a particular event will likely use many of the same vocabulary words and concepts. This enables students to have repeated exposure to academic vocabulary words while also allowing them to construct valuable background knowledge that can be used for subsequent educational tasks (Roessingh, 2019).

Repeated Readings

Repeated readings is an intervention strategy that involves reading through a text multiple times. When paired with word-meaning explanations, children have shown to make significant gains in their vocabulary skills (Carlisle et al., 2013). Research shows that repeated readings with word-meaning explanations results in students being able to acquire more words than repeated readings alone. When a teacher is engaging in repeated readings with world-meaning explanations, they are making a conscious effort to help children attend to the meaning of a word while they are listening to a story, which may not be possible if the child is left to independently determine the meaning of an unknown word that appears in a text. When selecting texts for repeated readings, teachers should select texts which include words that are likely to be unknown by a majority of students in the class. Before engaging in repeated readings with word-meaning explanations, teachers should pre-select words from the text that they will explain during reading. Pre-selection allows for teachers to assess student understanding of words at a later date. In order to effectively teach the meanings of selected vocabulary words, teachers should engage in repeated readings twice in the first week of instruction with the selected text, and up to four times in the second week of instruction (Biemiller & Boote, 2006).

Assisted Repeated Readings

For younger students, assisted repeated readings may be necessary when the goal is increased vocabulary development. Research shows that beginner readers are able to acquire more receptive vocabulary with assisted repeated readings than with unassisted repeated readings (Serrano & Huang, 2018). Assisted repeated readings also allow beginning and struggling readers to understand the correct prosody of texts, which increases their comprehension, which may in turn increase their learning of unknown words. Researchers suggest that if a teacher is concerned with students reaching immediate vocabulary goals, assisted repeated readings can occur over a short period of time, but stronger retention of vocabulary results from assisted readings that are repeated every seven or more days (Serrano & Huang, 2018).

Research confirms that explicit instruction is necessary when addressing the deficit vocabulary skills of students living in poverty. Shared book readings, repeated readings, and assisted repeated readings have been shown to be effective interventions for students who struggle with academic vocabulary. Research, however, has tended to focus on interventions for students in upper-elementary grades, rather than interventions for students in preschool and early elementary grades. Therefore, more attention is needed in

the area of early interventions, as interventions are not usually introduced until a problem with reading comprehension is noticed (Carlisle et al., 2013).

Summary

This chapter provides an overview of the impacts of poverty on education. A plethora of research exists which confirms that children living in poverty are often academically behind their peers. A review of literature on the effects of poverty on vocabulary shows that children living in low-income homes know significantly less words than their middle- and upper-class peers, and that these differences can be seen before children begin schooling. Vocabulary interventions employing explicit instruction are among the most effective for increasing vocabulary skills of students living in poverty.

While much of the literature reviewed presented the educational problems that result from a child living in poverty, more research is needed regarding solutions for addressing the impact of poverty on education. The goal of my research is to determine vocabulary interventions that are effective for use with students in early elementary grades in order to answer my research question: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty? Chapter Three will detail the methodology used to analyze current research that assesses the effectiveness of vocabulary interventions used with low-income students.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

Introduction

The literature reviewed in chapter two clearly illustrates that poverty negatively impacts a child's literacy skills. To determine appropriate vocabulary interventions for students living in poverty, I am completing an extended literature review to explore various vocabulary interventions that are intended to increase the academic vocabulary skills of students with vocabulary deficits, particularly those living in poverty. The following questions guide the research: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty?

This chapter will detail the procedure for selecting and analyzing articles for this extended literature review. The criteria for inclusion of research will be explained. Key search terms will be included, with explanation of their effectiveness in ascertaining articles that meet the criteria of inclusion, and the data collection process will be given in the event that others would wish to replicate the process of collecting and reviewing literature.

Parameters for Data Collection

I began gathering literature by completing some preliminary searches on Hamline's Bush Library database, Hamline Catalog. After determining a narrower focus for my research, I gathered articles for review through the internet, using the following search engines available through Hamline University's Bush Library databases: Academic Search Premier, Education Full Text (EBSCO), Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC), Journal STORage (JSTOR), and Teacher Reference Center. I also used Google Scholar, however, some articles were difficult to obtain through this search engine, so I resorted to looking up the same articles in the aforementioned databases.

To gather research on vocabulary interventions that have been implemented in low-income schools or with low-income students, I used the following search terms:

- poverty and vocabulary instruction
- reading interventions and poverty
- vocabulary and low income
- vocabulary interventions and low income
- academic vocabulary and poverty
- vocabulary interventions and poverty

I chose to use "low income" as a search term in addition to "poverty", as I found that these terms were often used interchangeably when I gathered my preliminary research for review in Chapter Two.

Criteria for Inclusion

Socioeconomic Status

Articles were only included that focused on adverse impacts of poverty on vocabulary skills, as it is not relevant to the research question to look solely at the vocabulary skills of socioeconomically advantaged students. Additionally, research that included information on parental vocabulary skills and education was included in this extended literature review, as research shows that a parent's level of education impacts their ability to participate in activities that promote academic vocabulary development (Marulis & Neuman, 2013).

School Setting

Information on the vocabulary skills of children not old enough to attend school was included in Chapter Two and highlighted the vast differences in these skills, which are shown to be strongly correlated with socioeconomic status. For the purpose of this extended literature review, research in vocabulary interventions was only selected if the interventions took place in preschool or kindergarten through twelfth grade. Studies that included interventions for children ages birth to three years were excluded as they do not align with the research question. Studies that focused on interventions for students in post-secondary grades were also rejected as the aim of the research is to determine effective interventions that can be used with children in early elementary school in order to strengthen skills before students begin to receive more demanding coursework.

Types of Interventions

Literature on interventions was included in the review only if the interventions were proven effective in improving academic vocabulary skills. As the research aims to determine effective vocabulary interventions, it would not be beneficial to include information on interventions that did not result in vocabulary gains for students. In the event that a reader would wish to replicate the interventions in their own educational setting, only interventions that included a comprehensive procedure were included.

Peer-Reviewed Status

To ensure that information included in this literature is accurate, only literature that is peer-reviewed was included in the literature review. Peer-reviewed articles are written and reviewed by several experts, making the included information more reliable. **Dates** Research articles were only included if the research was conducted after the year 2000, as it was important to focus on current educational issues that low-income students are facing. Research on effective instructional strategies continues to evolve, so it was imperative that only current research on teaching methods was included in the extended literature review.

Data Analysis

The intent of this literature view is to determine the impacts of poverty on academic vocabulary skills and effective interventions that can be used to strengthen vocabulary skills of students living in poverty. The impacts of poverty on education and vocabulary skills are complex, and therefore, could not simply be represented in charts and tables. Data in this literature review was analyzed qualitatively and quantitatively. There is value in presenting vocabulary gains from interventions in quantitative form, but it is also essential to discuss varying vocabulary skills and effective interventions in paragraph form. Google Sheets, a computer spreadsheet program, was used to keep track of study results and to compare and contrast results from different studies.

Appraisal of Studies

Studies included in this literature review were evaluated based on their ability to effectively address the research question. Both primary research studies and meta analysis studies were included in the extended literature review. Studies reviewed and included reported findings quantitatively, qualitatively, and through a mixed methods approach of reporting data both quantitatively and qualitatively within the same study. Studies were reviewed that included interventions using various explicit versus embedded vocabulary instructional models. The extended literature review is concerned with the effectiveness of vocabulary interventions for students in poverty, so studies were evaluated to ensure they included the following:

- An appropriate population of participants
- Evidence of interventions being effective with study participants
- Effectiveness of the interventions was proven in the research results
- Follow-up for the interventions over time to ensure that interventions were successful in sustaining academic vocabulary skills
- Research and rationale to support chosen interventions

Summary

This chapter provided an explanation of the process used to collect and review research. The criteria for inclusion of research, including school setting, intervention types, and peer-reviewed journal articles. Data analysis methods were reviewed and reflect the complexity of the research issue. In Chapter Four, the results of the literature review will be presented.

CHAPTER FOUR: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW

Introduction

Before we even begin formal schooling, we are all exposed to words in some capacity. If we are fortunate, books are read to us, we are able to repeat the words we hear others use, and we spend ample time doodling nonsense squiggles on paper before we learn how real letters are formed. When formal schooling does begin, literacy skills quickly become an integral part of our everyday academic lives. Being able to decode words, read a text fluently, ascertain meaning from the reading, and having the ability to express thoughts through writing becomes increasingly important as one progresses through their education. Reading and writing can bring relaxation, allow us to gain and express necessary information, or simply satisfy our sense of curiosity. While this may be the case for many of us, it is not the reality for all. Children living in poverty often have limited literacy experiences, and as a result, have smaller vocabularies when compared to their middle and upper class peers (Beck & McKeown, 2007; Kennedy, 2018; Oslund et al., 2018; Spencer et al., 2012; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2020).

These disparities can be problematic for several reasons. The first is that the reading levels of children of low socioeconomic status are commonly well below grade-level (Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). Because these children have reading levels that are lower than what is expected for their age, they have trouble reading and comprehending classroom texts (Wasik & Hindman, 2020). These comprehension difficulties are most often related to a child's inability to determine the meaning of words within a passage (Kelley et al., 2010). Lastly, when interventions are not implemented to address deficit vocabulary skills, the gap in achievement between children living in

poverty and their socioeconomically advantaged peers continues to grow (Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Oslund et al., 2016).

Extensive research exists on the factors that contribute to poverty and the negative impacts that it has on a child's academic attainment, while research on effective vocabulary interventions is less prevalent. As schools become increasingly diverse, ensuring that students have equitable educational opportunities is of the utmost importance. To address the gap in research on vocabulary interventions for low-socioeconomic students, I conducted an extended literature review to further explore current research on academic vocabulary interventions for students living in poverty. Review of this research will also allow me to address the research question: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty?

This extended literature review will be organized in the following manner. First, articles selected for the extended literature will be briefly described, including the type of intervention and the study's research methodology. Articles that were excluded from the extended literature review will also be introduced, and reasons for exclusion will be identified. Second, the research articles will be summarized, with similar findings grouped together to illustrate themes in the research. As a middle school Reading Interventionist, determining appropriate interventions to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of my low-income students is crucial in order to minimize the achievement gap between them and their socioeconomically advantaged peers. The conclusion of the extended literature review will be a discussion of the relevant

vocabulary interventions to use with students experiencing poverty who also demonstrate deficits in their academic vocabulary skills.

Articles on Vocabulary Interventions for Low-Socioeconomic Students

Education Full Text (EBSCO), Academic Search Premier, and Educational Resources Information Center (ERIC) were the databases searched to obtain peer-reviewed articles that relate to academic vocabulary interventions for students living in poverty. Of the sixteen articles that were selected for this extended literature review based on the inclusion criteria defined in Chapter Three, two were excluded because while they contained information on poverty and literacy skills, and the studies followed students who struggled with vocabulary skills and were impacted by poverty, the researchers did not implement any vocabulary interventions with their study participants (Herbers et al., 2012; Oslund et al., 2018). A third article was excluded because claims made regarding effective vocabulary interventions were not supported by outside research (Hansel, 2014). A fourth article was excluded as the researchers conducting the meta-analysis on vocabulary interventions reviewed studies that included participants with multiple risk factors, rather than the singular risk factor of poverty (Marulis & Neuman, 2013). A fifth article was excluded because the study examined reading motivation in students impacted by poverty, but the results of the study failed to mention if vocabulary gains were made (Kennedy, 2018). A sixth article was excluded as it was a meta-analysis which did not include original research, and the interventions studied were not described in specific terms (Marulis & Neuman, 2010). The ten remaining articles shared a common research goal: to implement vocabulary interventions with students living in poverty in order to determine their effectiveness (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck &

McKeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Spencer et al., 2012; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2020).

Types of Interventions Implemented

Two general types of interventions were employed in the ten articles that were reviewed. Eight of the articles used some type of explicit instruction in an attempt to increase the academic vocabulary skills of students from poverty. Explicit vocabulary instruction, a practice in which the teacher gives students an explicit definition of a target word prior to reading, was used in eight of the studies (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck & McKeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). Additionally, three of the articles that used explicit instruction in their interventions also included discussions as a tool for word learning (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010).

Embedded instruction was the instructional strategy used in two studies. Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005, compared the effectiveness of three literacy interventions, Literacy Collaborative (LC), Developing Literacy First (DLF), and Building Essential Literacy (BEL), which were centered around embedded phonics instruction, in which generalizations regarding spelling patterns are taught informally as students encounter words while reading. In another study, information about the target word's meanings were provided through story events, illustrations, and through multiple exposures to the target words within the story (Spencer et al., 2012).

Methodologies Used in the Research on Academic Vocabulary Interventions

The studies examined in this extended literature review used two methodologies to collect the data necessary to evaluate the effectiveness of their interventions. Five of the studies used a mixed methods approach, collecting both qualitative and quantitative data to assess their interventions. Two studies used vocabulary test scores to determine the number of words learned while simultaneously evaluating the success of their intervention by collecting teacher feedback through written logs (Kelley et al., 2010; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). Three articles evaluated vocabulary gains through vocabulary test scores, and reading comprehension skills through student responses to open-ended questions which were evaluated by trained research assistants (Apthorp et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2019; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). The final study that employed a mixed methods approach scored student responses to vocabulary and comprehension questions according to a criterion-referenced rubric, and calculated words learned by comparing pre- and post-test vocabulary scores (Spencer et al., 2012).

The remaining five studies used quantitative data to measure whether or not students made vocabulary gains while participating in vocabulary interventions. Three studies assessed participants' vocabulary skills through standardized and researcher-generated assessments where students either chose the correct or incorrect answer (Beck & McKeown, 2007; Neuman et al., 2021; Neuman & Marulis, 2010), while one study collected data on vocabulary skills solely through the use of standardized assessments (Gonzalez et al., 2010). One study assessed participants' ability to identify words through correct or incorrect identification of words printed on flashcards (Noltemeyer et al., 2019).

Study Demographics

The ten articles reviewed were written on studies that varied in participant age,

study size, intervention length, and percentage of participants that were experiencing

poverty at the time of the study (Table 1).

Table 1 - Study Demograph	ics
---------------------------	-----

Reference	Participant Grade	Number of Participating Classrooms/Schools	Participants Qualifying for Free/Reduced Price Lunch	Intervention Length
Apthorp et al., 2012	Kindergarten - 5th grade	46 schools	75%	2 school years
Beck & McKeown, 2007	Kindergarten - 1st grade	Study 1: 8 classes Study 2: 6 classes	Study 1: 82% Study 2: 81%	9 weeks
Gonzalez et al., 2010	Pre-Kindergarten	28 classrooms 9 schools	90%	18 weeks
Jones et al., 2019	4th - 7th grade	25 schools	Not identified	2 school years
Kelley et al., 2010	6th grade	12 classrooms 7 schools	58-100%	18 weeks
Neuman et al., 2021	Pre-Kindergarten - 1st grade	74 classrooms 12 schools	91-100%	21 weeks
Noltemeyer et al., 2019	Kindergarten	7 students	60%	5 weeks
Spencer et al., 2012	Kindergarten	3 classrooms	Not identified	Not identified
Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005	1st grade	16 schools	87%	1 school year
Wasik & Hindman, 2018	Pre-Kindergarten	20 classrooms	87%	1 school year

Important Findings on Vocabulary Interventions for Low-Income Students

A majority of the current research on the impacts of poverty on academic vocabulary seeks to determine what can be done to improve language skills of low-income students. Many researchers agree that intensive interventions need to be in place to close the gap between these students and their socioeconomically advantaged peers (Apthorp et al., 2012; Kelley et al., 2010; Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). Research shows converging themes of explicit instruction, embedded instruction, discussions, and guided and shared reading as effective interventions for students living in poverty. Explicit instruction offers a way for educators to directly convey definitions of words to students, which is necessary for children who have gaps in their vocabulary skills (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck & McKeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2018). Embedded instruction is a less direct instructional strategy for word learning that uses certain text structures to convey the meaning of words (Spencer et al., 2012). Discussions have shown to increase motivation in struggling learners, aiding in the word learning process (Beck & McKeown, 2007; Jones et al., 2019; Neuman et al., 2021). Guided and shared reading are interventions that allow teachers and students to work together throughout the reading process, with word learning activities integrated to promote gains in vocabulary knowledge (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). Each of these topics will be further examined in this extended literature review.

Explicit Instruction

Explicit instruction is an instructional technique in which educators provide content through highly structured activities, while simultaneously giving students direct,

guided instructions for completing the lesson activities (Kelley et al., 2010; Gonzalez et al., 2010). In determining whether or not their chosen interventions would improve the vocabulary skills of participants, seven of the studies turned to various methods of explicit vocabulary instruction (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck & McKeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2020), and one study employed explicit phonics instruction (Noltemeyer et al., 2019).

Explicit Phonics Instruction

Explicit phonics instruction begins with instruction on letters, or graphemes, and their associated sounds, or phonemes. After these basic principles are taught, students learn how to blend sounds into syllables, and eventually are able to blend syllables into words (Messmer & Griffith, 2005). One study identifies that a majority of children living in poverty enter kindergarten with low basic reading skills, and that explicit phonics interventions are necessary in order for these children to understand letter-sound correspondences, which enables them to read and spell unknown words (Noltemeyer et al., 2019). This study used flash cards to present words to students. The instructor would read the word to the students, point to each letter and identify the sound that the letter made and ask students to repeat the sounds. Students were then led in blending the sounds together to make the word. After all words were presented in this fashion, the teacher would show the students the cards a second time, asking students to identify and blend the sounds on their own. Results of this study indicate that students were able to recall more words than students who did not receive explicit phonics instruction. Based on these results, researchers ascertained that students who can identify letter-sound

correspondences are also able to represent the objects they see with written and spoken words.

Another study used explicit phonics instruction to teach students letters (Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). In this study, researchers implemented a scripted reading program called Success For All (SFA), and presented students with cards that had individual letters printed on them. The teacher would pronounce the letter, ask students to repeat the letter, and then would ask students to identify the sound that the letter made. The teacher and students would then proceed to read words that contained that specific letter. Results from this study show that students who participated in the SFA intervention earned higher scores in measures of word identification, decoding, and oral reading than students who did not. While primarily younger students benefit from explicit phonics instruction, explicit vocabulary instruction is appropriate for students of all ages who struggle with academic vocabulary due to poverty.

Explicit Vocabulary Instruction

Five of the studies that investigated the effects of explicit instruction also incorporated teaching target words to students (Beck &McKeown, 2007; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). The researchers hypothesized that giving study participants explicit definitions of vocabulary words that would be present in their reading materials would improve both understanding of the words in context and reading comprehension. Findings from two articles indicate that teachers' frequent use of target vocabulary words during instruction has positive impacts on student's receptive vocabulary skills, the skills needed to comprehend written and oral information (Kelley et al., 2010; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). The Gonzalez et al. (2010) study used the following criteria to determine which words within a text qualified as target words: (a) the words were relevant to concepts being taught, (b) not likely to be known by students or heard in regular conversations, (c) the words would be important as students moved through their education, and would assist students in understanding content while reading. To teach target words, this study gave students explicit definitions of the target vocabulary words before, during, and after reading with the theory that multiple exposures to the words would elicit deep processing of the vocabulary and related concepts. Results of this study report significant gains in both receptive and expressive vocabulary skills by participants.

Three studies found that when students are able to use target words in structured discussions, they demonstrate stronger comprehension of the vocabulary words than if learning of target words was limited to rote memorization (Beck & Mckeown, 2007; Jones et al., 2019; Neuman et al., 2021). Another study confirmed this while also determining that students are able to understand all the ways a target word can be used when they are able to attach personal meaning to the words, and through incorporation of the words in their writing (Kelley et al., 2010).

Some of these target words are what researchers refer to as 'high utility words', or general academic vocabulary words that students are likely to see throughout their academic careers (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck & Mckeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Kelley et al., 2010). One study taught high utility words to students by reading aloud challenging texts and teaching the meaning of the high utility words after the reading. In this study, high utility words were taught following the read aloud to encourage general vocabulary development, rather than to improve reading comprehension (Beck & McKeown, 2007). Students in this study were also given opportunities to practice using high utility words in classroom discussions. Results from this article indicate that students who received this type of instruction on high utility words made stronger vocabulary gains than those who did not. Another study introduced high utility words and gave students the definitions of these words via pictures and student friendly definitions prior to students reading a passage (Apthorp et al., 2012). Students in this study participated in different teacher-guided word learning activities, which resulted in gains made word meaning, listening comprehension, and passage comprehension skills. A third study on vocabulary interventions, including instruction on high utility words also found that multiple exposures to these words results in word retention. These studies involved teachers posting visual cues of high utility words, asking students use high utility words, and providing students the opportunity to connect the words to personal experiences (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Kelley et al., 2010).

In summary, there is ample evidence to support that explicit instruction is an effective strategy for teaching academic vocabulary. Researchers agree that clearly defining words for students and giving them multiple exposures to the words through various word learning activities allows for retention. Beck and McKeown (2007) identify that when students are engaged in discussions, they are given the opportunity to process the academic vocabulary that teachers are intending for them to learn. When compared with explicit vocabulary instruction, embedded vocabulary instruction is an instructional strategy in which words are taught in a more indirect manner.

Embedded Vocabulary Instruction

While explicit instruction has been widely researched, embedded instruction has received much less attention. When students are taught the meaning of vocabulary words through embedded instruction, definitions are conveyed through illustrations, pictures, and multiple exposures to a word within a text (Spencer et al., 2012). The Spencer et al. (2012) research study assessed the effectiveness of an embedded vocabulary intervention with pre-kindergarten students using a set of ten books written about events that are likely to happen to students this age, and each book contained embedded lessons centered around two vocabulary words, with three questions to assess comprehension. Students who participated in this intervention listened to an audio recording of a book one time without embedded vocabulary instruction, and then three times with embedded vocabulary instruction. The embedded instruction consisted of the narrator pausing during the reading and asking the students to play a word game using one of the target vocabulary words or answer a question about the story. The audio recordings included pauses, which allowed students time to answer the prompts, and following their answers, the narrator would model the correct response to the posed question. Word learning activities used in this study included at least three opportunities to use each vocabulary word, two opportunities to give the definition of the word, and one opportunity to connect the word to personal experience. Results of this study show improvements in students' ability to learn vocabulary words, and less drastic improvements in students' ability to correctly answer comprehension questions related to the story.

Use of embedded vocabulary instruction with low-income students is a seldomly researched topic. This instructional strategy offers ways for students to learn the meaning of words through various parts of a story, and allows readers to hear what fluent oral reading sounds like. Discussions offer a more direct way for students to practice using words in conversations, which can be beneficial for word learning.

Discussions

Discussions are another instructional technique that may support student learning of academic vocabulary. Prior to implementing any interventions, one study hypothesized that if the instructional goal is deep word learning, discussions need to be a focus of instruction (Kelley et al., 2010). To do this, the researchers in this study selected texts that would be relevant to students' lives, with the idea that there would be a higher probability of student engagement. Teachers who participated in the study confirmed this, noting that the texts often inspired new thinking, and students were motivated to share their ideas. This intervention was implemented at the middle school level, and each unit began with a whole-class discussion regarding the text they were about to read, paired with partner discussions and mock interviews after reading. Researchers in this study found that these discussions promoted the use and retention of the academic vocabulary from the text, as students were motivated to talk about what they had read, and were able to connect the text to personal events and social issues.

A second study in this extended literature review also tested the effects of discussion on word learning (Jones et al., 2019). Researchers in this study sought to determine the effectiveness of a vocabulary intervention called Word Generation (WG), which claims to employ analysis, synthesis, critique, and problem solving to build academic language skills in upper-elementary and middle school students. Each lesson in the WG intervention began with an engaging question, and other lesson activities included teaching of target words and a classroom debate. Results of this study indicate that students were able to increase their vocabulary, perspective taking, and reading comprehension skills through their participation in this intervention.

Two other research studies implemented discussions with much younger students in an effort to improve academic vocabulary skills of low-income students (Beck & McKeown, 2007; Neuman et al., 2021). Preschoolers and kindergarteners were the student participants in both studies. In the Neuman et al. (2021) study, discussions followed shared book readings. Discussions were structured by the teacher, who gave students turns to express their thinking regarding the text, and to respond to what other students had said. To help students stay focused on discussing the text they had read, teachers began by asking students comparison and contrasting questions, posing more open-ended questions toward the end of the discussion. Results of this study indicate that these turn-taking interactions had a positive impact on children's ability to learn more words. Beck & McKeown's (2007) tested a vocabulary intervention called Text Talk, and their study involved asking students to make judgements about the target words they had learned through reading, and to verbalize those judgements in class discussions. Teachers in this study facilitated discussions by using questioning techniques to help students with expanding on their thinking and responding to their classmates. Results of this study show that significantly more vocabulary learning occurred in classrooms where the Text Talk intervention was carried out.

Research agrees that children of all ages benefit from opportunities to use academic language in conversations with their peers. For younger students, it may be beneficial for teachers to employ more structured discussions, while older students may need less teacher prompting. Regardless of the level of teacher involvement, research

45

shows that discussions are fueled by engaging texts. Students who struggle with vocabulary skills can also be engaged in the reading process through shared reading and guided reading interventions, which give students the opportunity to be active participants in the reading process while simultaneously allowing for teacher assessment.

Guided and Shared Book Reading

Shared Book Reading

As previously mentioned in Chapter Two, shared book reading allows students to be active participants in the reading process, as allocating time for student predictions, reading aloud, and oral re-reading with student participation are key elements of the shared reading process (Gonzalez et al., 2010). In the Neuman et al. (2021) study, each lesson contained five read aloud books that build off of each other and are designed for shared reading, along with scripted questions. Teachers who implemented this intervention spent more time enacting post-reading reflection and vocabulary word learning activities, as compared to teachers in the control group of this intervention. Students who participated in this intervention made gains in curriculum-based vocabulary and concept knowledge.

A second study on shared book reading sought to improve academic vocabulary skills of low-income preschoolers in the subjects of science and social studies (Gonzalez et al., 2010). Books in this study were chosen if there were a sufficient number of vocabulary words related to science and social studies topics, if students could determine the definitions of target words through book illustrations or photographs, and if the books could be read and discussed within a twenty minute reading session. Participants in this intervention engaged in twenty minutes of the shared reading process each day for eighteen weeks. At the conclusion of this study, student participants demonstrated significantly higher receptive language skills.

Guided Reading

In contrast with shared reading, guided reading requires students to be more active in the reading process. Guided reading typically consists of a small group of students with similar reading abilities reading a text independently with some teacher prompting, before, during, and after reading to provide cues on the reading strategies that students should be engaging in (Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005). In the Tivnan & Hemphill (2005) study, three literacy interventions were examined that used guided reading. Building Essential Literacy (BEL), Literacy Collaborative (LC), and Developing Literacy First (DLF) use guided reading with leveled books with the goal of improving academic vocabulary skills. BEL and LC mandate the use of specific leveled reading books, while DLF recommends, but does not require specific reading materials. BEL and LC also suggest that as part of the guided reading process, small groups should engage in writing activities to support the acquisition of academic language. Lessons in all of these programs began with the teacher reading a text aloud to the students, followed by a discussion of the text. After the whole class read aloud, students were divided into reading groups, and the teacher worked with one reading group at a time while the other groups rotated through other literacy related activities. While working with the groups, teachers would ask students questions about any background knowledge they had related to the text, would prompt for use of decoding strategies, and would ask questions about the text when the group was finished reading. These interventions were effective in improving students' skills in the areas of letter-word identification, decoding, and

vocabulary, but researchers do identify that these programs did not bring students close to grade-level expectations in these areas.

While shared book reading is a more structured process than guided reading, both instructional strategies require students to be active participants. Research indicates that shared book reading may be more useful with younger learners, as they benefit from teacher-directed activities. Guided reading, on the other hand, requires that students are able to read a text mostly independently, with some teacher prompting. Both shared and guided reading give students opportunities to apply background knowledge prior to reading, and to engage in post reading reflection.

Summary of Findings

All of the articles in this review show evidence of improving the vocabulary skills of low-income students through vocabulary interventions. Multiple researchers agree that regardless of the vocabulary intervention, target vocabulary words should be selected prior to the beginning of a lesson so that they can be taught with intention and fidelity (Beck &McKeown, 2007; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Spencer et al., 2012; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). Explicit instruction, which involves direct teaching of vocabulary words and their definitions, was a type of intervention assessed by eight of the ten reviewed articles, and all articles reported that students made gains in their vocabulary skills (Apthorp et al., 2012; Beck & McKeown, 2007; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Noltemeyer et al., 2019; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005; Wasik & Hindman, 2018). Modest improvements in word learning and reading comprehension were made by student participants through embedded instruction, an instructional strategy in which definitions are conveyed in a more indirect manner,

leaving students to form their own conclusions about the meaning of target vocabulary words. Discussions, guided reading, and shared reading were interventions that incorporated different word learning activities, and allowed students to increase their skills in the areas of receptive vocabulary, decoding and understanding of definitions. In the following chapter, an analysis of research findings will be provided, including limitations, implications, recommendations for future research, and how I plan to use the research that has been reviewed in both Chapter Two and Chapter Four.

CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION

The questions that guided the research were: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty? First, I will review major findings of the literature review. Second, I will discuss the limitations of the research and review process. Third, I will summarize the implications of the literature review, with attention to possible implementation strategies for educational professionals. Fourth, I will make recommendations for future research in the area of poverty and academic vocabulary. Finally, I will communicate my plan for use of the extended literature review results.

Major Findings

Prior to conducting the extended literature review, it was evident that there is a correlation between poverty and lack of academic vocabulary skills, based on the research reviewed in Chapter Two. Research reviewed in Chapter Four confirms that there are a number of key findings confirming the positive impact of using explicit instruction, discussions, guided reading, and shared reading as vocabulary interventions for low-income students. Some interventions have been more widely researched, with explicit instruction as an intervention that has received much attention by researchers.

Explicit instruction was an instructional strategy initially introduced in Chapter Two, and was further reviewed in Chapter Four. In Chapter Two, explicit vocabulary instruction was explained as giving students the definition of a word, providing students with opportunities to use the word in word learning activities, and modeling correct word use (Goldstein et al., 2017). In Chapter Four, this notion was expanded upon, with researchers agreeing that an important element of explicit instruction is pre-teaching of target vocabulary words, as this practice is associated with gains in word recognition (Beck &McKeown, 2007; Jones et al., 2019; Kelley et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021; Wasik & Hindman, 2020). Another important finding regarding explicit instruction is that of explicit phonics instruction for younger students, or with students who have difficulty with recognizing sound-letter correspondences. Effective explicit phonics instruction that involved directly teaching letter sounds and blending of sounds to produce words resulted in students' improved ability to read and recognize words (Noltemeyer et al, 2019; Tivnan & Hemphill, 2005).

The second major finding regards discussions and their effectiveness as a vocabulary intervention for low-income students. In Chapter Two, discussions between child and adult are referenced as a way to build word knowledge as the adult is able to ask questions related to a word that may further a child's understanding of the definition (Malin et al., 2014). Discussions were looked at more in-depth in Chapter Four, and researchers found that discussions are appropriate for use with students of all ages. Neuman et al. (2021) asserted that for younger students, it may be appropriate to incorporate structured discussions into lessons as a way to promote use of target vocabulary words. In the study by Kelley et al. (2010), it was found that pairing engaging texts with discussions when working with low-income middle school students resulted in use and retention of academic vocabulary.

Finally, shared reading and guided reading were instructional practices found to be beneficial for students with deficits in vocabulary skills due to poverty. In Chapter Two, it was cited that shared reading allows struggling readers to hear what fluent reading sounds like, while also being able to hear the correct pronunciation and use of target vocabulary words (Malin et al., 2014). In Chapter Four, articles that reviewed shared reading determined that shared reading that includes oral re-reading with student participation and scripted teacher questions resulted in gains in receptive language and content area vocabulary (Gonzalez et al., 2010; Neuman et al., 2021).

Research from Chapters Two and Four indicate that when working with students in poverty, interventions that involve direct teaching are the most beneficial. Students with low vocabulary skills due to socioeconomic status require intense interventions in which definitions are clearly communicated, word use is modeled, and opportunities for practice through word learning activities are given. While this literature review found ample evidence to support the above claims, there were some limitations in the research and review.

Limitations

There were multiple limitations that impacted the research and literature review process. First, it was evident in preliminary research that poverty impacts much more than just academic vocabulary skills. However, it was not feasible to address all of these issues as this would have been too wide of a focus for the initial and extended literature review, given the time constraints for completion. Thus, the effects of poverty on other aspects of a student's life are not included in this paper. Therefore, those looking to gain insight on these topics may not find this research useful.

Another limitation of this study was the result of the specificity of the research question: How does poverty impact academic vocabulary skills and how can early vocabulary interventions be used effectively in order to strengthen the academic vocabulary skills of students living in poverty? The aim of this literature review was to determine poverty's impacts on academic vocabulary, versus all types of vocabulary. As such, the adverse effects of poverty on other types of vocabulary fall outside of the scope of this review. Findings from some of the research articles included in Chapter Four were rejected as they did not align with the research question.

Implications for Educators

There are a number of important findings from the extended literature review that are relevant for educators. The first is that in general, explicit instruction is a necessary strategy to employ when working with learners who exhibit deficit literacy skills due to poverty. To use explicit instruction effectively, teachers should pre-select the vocabulary words from texts that they plan to read with students. Definitions of these words should be given prior to reading, and teachers should pause throughout reading to point out instances of the target vocabulary words. Prior to reading, the vocabulary words should be discussed with regards to how they were used in the story, as this will aid students in comprehending the text. When using the explicit instruction strategy to teach phonics, teachers should begin by teaching students individual letter sounds, and then move to sound blending exercises. Appropriate awareness of sound-letter correspondences, or phonological awareness, is necessary to recognize vocabulary words while reading, so explicit phonics instruction should be used with readers who are struggling with this concept.

Educators should also use discussions to their advantage when working with learners who are struggling with vocabulary skills due to poverty. In the classroom, teachers can structure discussions by giving students a prompt to discuss, posing questions throughout the discussion to further thinking, and prompting students to use target vocabulary words, modeling appropriate word use if necessary. Teachers should also be mindful to select engaging texts when incorporating discussions in their lessons. This allows students to make connections between what they have read and their own lives and to expand on the thinking of their peers while incorporating predetermined vocabulary words in their speech.

When readers have needs in fluency in addition to vocabulary, guided reading and shared reading are effective teaching practices. When employing guided reading, teachers should compose small groups of students with similar reading abilities. This allows learners to work together when reading, while also allowing the teacher to assess student vocabulary skills within a small group setting. The teacher should create other word learning activities for student groups to do, so that all groups have a task during guided reading time. When engaging in shared reading, the teacher should read through the selected text orally, modeling appropriate rate, expression, and accuracy for students. The teacher should then encourage students to read along orally, with the expectation that they are matching the prosody of the teacher. Word learning activities should be integrated into shared reading through the use of discussions regarding vocabulary words and student-generated sentences that exemplify appropriate vocabulary word use.

There are a number of implications for educational professionals regarding vocabulary interventions to use with students in poverty. While the procedures for each intervention may vary, all interventions share a commonality in that they include multiple exposures to vocabulary words and opportunities for student practice. It is important that these interventions are implemented with fidelity, and that further research is conducted in order to ensure that these vocabulary interventions remain effective.

Further Research

This literature review demonstrates that there is room for further research in the area of academic vocabulary interventions used with students living in poverty. The lengths of the interventions included in the research ranged from five weeks to two school years, but research that investigates use of interventions over three or more years may be of use. Research of this length would enable researchers to determine whether or not lasting impacts are made on student learning by use of various vocabulary interventions. Educational leaders would also benefit from this research when determining appropriate curriculum, class sequence, staffing, and class structure for reading intervention and support classes.

Student participants in all of the studies reviewed remained in poverty throughout the duration of the study. It would be interesting to research the impacts of interventions on students whose families are able to eventually move out of poverty. The rationale for this research is to determine if improved socioeconomic status and increased parent involvement positively impact a child's vocabulary skills. It is important to note that there may be limitations to this type of research, as it can be difficult for families to make advances in socioeconomic status with limited resources.

Throughout the literature review process, it was difficult to obtain articles on the motivation of low-income students in relation to academic vocabulary tasks, and thus, more research is needed in this area. It was noted by Kelley et al. (2010) that engaging texts encourage student discussions, but articles on other interventions failed to address

whether or not teachers encountered difficulty with student motivation when completing word learning tasks. As an educator, I recognize that when a student struggles with an academic skill, they are often reluctant to engage in any tasks that require use of that skill. Therefore, it would be beneficial for researchers to address the issue of motivation when implementing interventions, so that strategies for increasing motivation could be assessed, and eventually implemented by educational professionals.

There are many opportunities for future research in the area of academic vocabulary interventions. Completion of this research would be mutually beneficial for researchers and educators alike. Results from ruther research could be implemented in classrooms with learners who demonstrate needs in academic vocabulary due to poverty.

Communication and Use of Results

This literature review will be made available through Hamline's Bush Library Digital Commons. As other students research the topic of poverty and academic vocabulary interventions, it is my hope that my findings and references will be useful in furthering their professional learning.

In August of 2020, I will begin my career as a Reading Interventionist. I plan to use my research findings in my classroom, as I will be working with struggling readers. In addition to the reading curriculum provided by my school district, I will incorporate explicit instruction, discussions, and guided and shared book reading into my lesson plans. Doing this will enable me to partner with students as we work toward improving their academic vocabulary skills.

Conclusion

Research included in this review clearly shows a child's vocabulary development begins at home, and is very dependent on the vocabulary skills of those living in the home. When students who live in poverty do not experience quality interactions with language, delays in vocabulary skills develop. If early interventions are not provided, the gap between a low-income student's vocabulary skills and their socioeconomically advantaged peers continues to grow. Researchers assert that vocabulary instruction for these students needs to be explicit and highly supportive.

From a young age, I have had a passion for all things literacy, and have since worked to turn those interests into a career. In my experience as a special education teacher, I know that many students struggle with literacy skills due to outside factors. As a Reading Interventionist, I plan to be mindful of these factors while creating opportunities for my students to improve their academic vocabulary skills. Through my research, I have learned that creating instructional opportunities that allow students to make these gains can be a complex process. With my professional training and through continued research, I am confident that this is a challenge that I am prepared to take on. All students deserve quality literacy experiences and the opportunity to build sufficient academic vocabulary skills, regardless of socioeconomic status.

REFERENCES

- Alm, A. (2015). Facebook for informal language learning: Perspectives from tertiary language students. *The EUROCALL Review*, 23(2), 3-18. Retrieved from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1082622
- Biemiller, A. & Boote, C. (2006). An effective method for building meaning vocabulary in primary grades. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 98(1), 44-62. https://doi/org/10.1037/0022-0663.98.1.44
- Carlisle, J. F., Kelcey, B., & Berebitsky, D. (2013). Teachers' support of students' vocabulary learning during literacy instruction in high poverty elementary schools. *American Educational Research Journal, 50*(6), 1360-1391.
- Corcoran Nielson, D., & Dinner Friesen, L. (2012) A study of the effectiveness of a small-group intervention on the vocabulary and narrative development of at-risk kindergarten children. *Reading Psychology*, *33*(3), 269-299. https://doi.org/10.1080/02702711.2010.508671
- Goldstein, H., Ziolkowski, R. A., Bojczyk, K. E., Marty, A., Schneider, N., Harpring, J., & Haring, C. D., (2017). Academic vocabulary in first through third grade in low-income schools: Effects of automated supplemental instruction. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 60*, 3237-3258. https://doi.org/10.1044/2017 JSLHR-L-17-0100
- Johnson, S., Riis, J., & Noble, K. (2016). State of the art review: Poverty and the developing brain. *Pediatrics*, 137(4), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2015-3075

- Knight, D. (2017). Are high-poverty school districts disproportionately impacted by state funding cuts?: School finance equity following the great recession. *Journal of Educational Finance*, 43(2), 169-194. Retrieved from https://muse-jhu-edu.ezproxy.hamline.edu/article/688011
- Lacour, M., & Tissington, L. D. (2011). The effects of poverty on academic achievement.
 Educational Research and Reviews, 6(7), 522-527.
 http://www.academicjournals.org/journal/EER/article-full-text-pdf/31F3BF6129
- Levin, B. (2007). Schools, poverty, and the achievement gap. *Phi Delta Kappan, 89*(1), 75-76. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031/72170708900115
- Lervåg, A., Dolean, D., Tincas, I., & Melby-Lervåg, M. (2019). Socioeconomic background, nonverbal IQ and school absence affects the development of vocabulary and reading comprehension of children living in severe poverty. *Developmental Science*, 22(5). https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12858
- Machtinger, H. (2007). What do we know about high poverty schools? Summary of the high poverty schools conference at UNC Chapel-Hill. *The High School Journal*, 90(3), 1-8. Retrieved from Education Full Text
- Malin, J. L., Cabrera, N. J., & Rowe, M. L. (2014). Low-income minority mothers' and fathers' reading and children's interest: Longitudinal contributions to children's receptive vocabulary skills. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 29*(4), 425-432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2014.04.010
- Marulis, M. L. & Neuman, S. B. (2013). How vocabulary interventions affect young children at risk: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 6(3), 223-262. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2012.755591

Morse, A. F. & Cangelosi, A. (2017) Why are there developmental stages in language learning? A developmental robotics model of language development. *Cognitive Science: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 41*(1), 32-51.

https://doi.org/10.1111/cogs.12390

Nancollis, A., Lawrie, B.-A., & Dodd, B. (2005). Phonological awareness intervention and the acquisition of literacy skills in children from deprived social backgrounds. *Language, Speech & Hearing Services in Schools*, *36*(4), 325–335. https://doi.org/10.1044/0161-1461(2005/032)

- Naven, L., Egan, J., Sosu, E. M., & Spencer, S. (2019) The influence of poverty on children's school experiences: Pupils' perspectives. *Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*, 27(3), 313-331. https://doi.org/10.1332/175982719X1562254783865
- Overturf, B. J., (2014). Interrupting the cycle of word poverty: Methods to stop the growing gap and help build vocabulary knowledge. *Reading Today, 32*(3), 22-23. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier
- Payne, R. (2008). Nine powerful practices. *Educational Leadership*, 65(7), 48-52. Retrieved from https://rbteach.com/sites/default/files/nine-powerful-practices.pdf
- Perkins, S. C., Finegood, E. D., & Swain, J. E. (2013). Poverty and language development: Roles of parenting and stress. *Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience*, *10*(4), 10-19. Retrieved from

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3659033/

Roessingh, H. (2019). Read-alouds in the upper elementary classroom: Developing academic vocabulary. *TESOL Journal*, 1(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/tesj.445

- Rupley, W. H. & Nichols, W. D. (2006) Vocabulary instruction for the struggling reader. *Reading & Writing Quarterly*, 21(3), 239-260. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573560590949368
- Tienken, C. H. (2012). The influence of poverty on achievement. *Kappa Delta Pi Record, 48*(3), 105-107. https://doi.org/10.1080/00228958.2012.707499
- Ullucci, K. & Howard, T. (2015). Pathologizing the poor: Implications for preparing teachers to work in high-poverty schools. *Urban Education*, 50(2), 170-193. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085914543117
- Samuels, C. A. (2019). Poverty, not race, fuels the achievement gap. *Education Week*, *37*(9), 5. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier
- Serrano, R. & Huang, H-Y. (2018) Learning vocabulary through assisted repeated reading: how much time should there be between repetitions of the same text? *TESOL Quarterly*, 52(4), 971-994. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.445
- Silva-Laya, M., D' Angelo, N., García, E., Zúñiga, L., 7 Fernández, T. (2020). Urban poverty and education. A systematic literature review. *Educational Research Review*, 29, 1-20. https://doi/org/10.1016/j.edurev.2019.05.002
- Van der Berg, S. (2008). Poverty and education. *Education Policy Series*, *10*(28), 1-28. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.464.9607&rep=rep1&t ype=pdf
- Weisleder, A., & Fernald, A. (2013). Talking to children matters: Early language experience strengthens processing and builds vocabulary. *Psychological Science*, 24(11), 2143-2152. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613488145

Zhang, M. (2003). Links between school absenteeism and child poverty. *Pastoral Care in Education, 21*(1), 10-17. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0122.00249

- Apthorp, H., Randel, B., Cherasaro, T., Clark, T., McKeown, M., & Beck, I. (2012).
 Effects of a supplemental vocabulary program on word knowledge and passage comprehension. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 5(2), 160–188. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2012.660245
- Beck, I. L., & McKeown, M. G. (2007). Increasing young low-income children's oral vocabulary repertoires through rich and focused instruction. *The Elementary School Journal*, 107(3), 251–271. https://doi.org/10.1086/511706
- Gonzalez, J. E., Pollard-Durodola, S., Simmons, D. C., Taylor, A. B., Davis, M. J., Kim, M., & Simmons, L. (2010). Developing low-income preschoolers' social studies and science vocabulary knowledge through content-focused shared book reading. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 4*(1), 25–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2010.487928
- Hansel, L. (2014). Closing the gaps: Challenging texts supported by intentional instruction. *Illinois Reading Council Journal*, 42(3), 3–8.
- Herbers, J. E., Cutuli, J. J., Supkoff, L. M., Heistad, D., Chan, C.-K., Hinz, E., & Masten,
 A. S. (2012). Early reading skills and academic achievement trajectories of students facing poverty, homelessness, and high residential mobility. *Educational Researcher*, 41(9), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X12445320
- Jones, M. S., LaRusso, M., Kim, J., Yeon Kim, H., Selman, R., Uccelli, P., Barnes, P. S., Donovan, S., & Snow, C. (2019). Experimental effects of word generation on vocabulary, academic language, perspective taking and reading comprehension

in high-poverty schools. Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness, 12(3), 448-483. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2019.1615159

Kelley, J. G., Lesaux, N. K., Kieffer, M. J., & Faller, S. E. (2010). Effective academic vocabulary instruction in the urban middle school. *The Reading Teacher*, 64(1), 5–14. https://doi.org/10.1598/RT.64.1.4

Kennedy, E. (2018). Engaging children as readers and writers in high-poverty contexts. Journal of Research in Reading, 41(4), 716–731. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9817.12261

- Marulis, L. M., & Neuman, S. B. (2010). The effects of vocabulary intervention on young children's word learning: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 80(3), 300–335. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654310377087
- Marulis, L. M., & Neuman, S. B. (2013). How vocabulary interventions affect young children at risk: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 6(3), 223–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2012.755591
- Mesmer, H. A. E., & Griffith, P. L. (2005). Everybody's selling it but just what is explicit, systematic phonics instruction? *The Reading Teacher*, 59(4), 366-376. https://doi.org/10.1598/RT.59.4.6
- Neuman, S. B., Samudra, P., & Danielson, K. (2021). Effectiveness of scaling up a vocabulary intervention for low-income children, pre-k through first grade. *The Elementary School Journal*, *121*(3), 385–409. https://doi.org/10.1086/712493
- Noltemeyer, A. L., Joseph, L. M., & Kunesh, C. E. (2013). Effects of supplemental small group phonics instruction on kindergartners' word recognition performance. *Reading Improvement*, *50*(3), 121–131.

- Oslund E. L., Clemens, N. H., Simmons, D. C., & Simmons L. E., (2018). The direct and indirect effects of word reading and vocabulary on adolescents' reading comprehension: Comparing struggling and adequate comprehenders. *Reading & Writing*, *31*(2), 355–79, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-017-9788-3
- Spencer, E. J., Goldstein, H., Sherman, A., Noe, S., Tabbah, R., Ziolkowski, R., & Schneider, N. (2012). Effects of an automated vocabulary and comprehension intervention: An early efficacy study. *Journal of Early Intervention*, 34(4), 195–221. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815112471995
- Tivnan, T., & Hemphill, L. (2005). comparing four literacy reform models in high-poverty schools: Patterns of first-grade achievement. *The Elementary School Journal*, 105(5), 419–441. https://doi.org/10.1086/431885
- Wasik, B. A., & Hindman, A. H. (2020). Increasing preschoolers' vocabulary development through a streamlined teacher professional development intervention. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 50, 101–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2018.11.006